2006

Kae Jensen v. David Leon Jensen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court pursuant to Utah Code Annotated, § 78-2a-3.

ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

In its Conclusions of Law, the court below ruled that the increase in equity of

Mr. Jensen's stock in the company should be divided between the parties. However, the formula used by the court failed to take into account the interest in the company of other individuals and resulted in Ms. Jensen being awarded much more than would have resulted in the division the court intended. Did the court err when it applied the formula it did in dividing the increase in equity?

In its Findings of Fact, the court below found that Clara Jensen's interest in the company does not pass to Mr. Jensen until the time of Clara Jensen's death. Yet in its Conclusions of Law the court awards to Ms. Jensen a portion of the increase in the stock of the company that is associated with Clara Jensen's shares, thus awarding to Ms. Jensen property that does not belong to either of the parties to the divorce. Did the court err when it awarded to Ms. Jensen property that belongs to an individual not a party to the divorce?

In its Conclusions of Law, the court below properly cited *Mortensen v. Mortensen* as the ruling law in this matter, yet the court failed to follow the rule laid out by the Utah Supreme Court in *Mortensen*. The court also misapplied precedential cases to the facts of this case. Did the court err when it failed to apply the rule of *Mortensen* after correctly stating it as the law governing this case, and when it applied to the facts of this case the outcome of cases that are not analogous to it?

The court below awarded attorney fees to Ms. Jensen without inquiring or

making findings concerning Ms. Jensen's financial need, Mr. Jensen's ability to pay, or the reasonableness of the fees. Did the court err when it awarded attorney fees?

Standards of Review

The trial court's property division is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Enrody v. Enrody*, 914 P.2d 1166, 1169 (Utah Ct. App. 1996). Whether the trial court's findings of fact in support an award of attorney's fees are sufficient is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *Id.*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF FACTS

This appeal concerns the divorce of Kae Jensen ("Ms. Jensen") and David Jensen ("Mr. Jensen"). On November 27, 2006 the trial court entered Supplemental Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Supplemental Decree of Divorce. The parties were married in November, 1998, separated in January, 2004, and were divorced on May 16, 2005. By the time of trial both parties were remarried to other individuals.

At the time of the marriage Mr. Jensen owned stock in a closely held family company, A & D Jensen Contractors, Inc. ("the company") along with his brother, father, mother and uncle. Also, prior to the marriage, in 1985 the company purchased the stock of Mr. Jensen's uncle which stock was held in the company as treasury stock during the marriage.

In 1989 Mr. Jensen's father died. Mr. Jensen's mother, Clara Jensen, acquired ownership of his shares. In 1999, Clara Jensen assigned her shares to Mr. Jensen and his brother Mark Jensen in order that her personal assets would not have to be pledged as collateral when the company borrowed funds. However, Clara Jensen retained ownership of the shares and the trial court found that the assignment would not constitute a transfer of the stock until the time of her death. The court also recognized an ownership interest in the company by Mark Jensen.

Mr. Jensen worked for the company during the period of the marriage. Ms. Jensen went to school and owned and operated a massage business during the marriage.

Although the trial court seems to recognize numerous owners of the company, it ruled that half the increase in the adjusted value of the company be awarded to Ms. Jensen.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Point One

The trial court ruled that the increase in equity of Mr. Jensen's stock should be split between the parties. However, the court failed to take into account other owners of the company, thus dividing the increase as though all the stock belonged to Mr. Jensen. In this way the court erred by awarding more to Ms. Jensen than it had

intended to.

Point Two

The trial court found that Clara Jensen's interest in the company would not pass to Mr. Jensen until the time of her death. Yet, the court awarded to Ms. Jensen an increase in the value of the stock that is ascribable to shares the court found to be Clara Jensen's. Thus the court awarded to Ms. Jensen property that does not belong to either party to the divorce.

Point Three

The trial court cited *Mortensen v. Mortensen* as the Supreme Court precedent driving the rule of this case. However the court's rulings ignored the rule laid down in *Mortensen*. Further, the court cites a number of cases in support of its ruling that Ms. Jensen's role as primary care-giver to the couple's child and her contribution to household responsibilities entitle her to a full half share in the company's increase in value over the years of the marriage. However these cases do not support the court's ruling.

Point Four

The trial court awarded attorney fees to Ms. Jensen. However, the trial court made no inquiry nor findings concerning Ms. Jensen's financial need, Mr. Jensen's ability to pay, or the reasonableness of the fees.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

The trial court erred when it calculated the division of the increase in the company's equity

In its Conclusions of Law, the court below ruled that the increase in equity of Mr. Jensen's stock in the company should be divided between the parties.

Conclusions of Law ¶ 22. The court then promulgated the following formula to effectuate this division:

[C]hange in adjusted total equity less the 75% of the credit card debt that respondent should pay, less the attorney's fees that Respondent should pay, and less the value of the Petitioner's business. ($\$230,851 - 18,724.68 - \$12,562.50 - \$5,000 = \$194,563.82$) This number should be divided by two, which represents each party's share of equity. ($\$194,563.82 / 2 = \$97,381.91$)

Id. at ¶ 23.

The court then awarded Ms. Jensen \$97,281.91 as her share of the increase in value of Mr. Jensen's stock. *Id.* at ¶ 24.

The court is in error. Instead of dividing Mr. Jensen's portion of the increase in equity between the parties, the court has divided the entire increase in equity. This includes the

value of shares not found to be owned by Mr. Jensen. While the court makes no specific findings as to ownership of the company stock, it does seem to accept that there is at least one other owner and possibly two. *Id.* at ¶¶ 30 - 46.

POINT II

The trial court assigned to Ms. Jensen property that belongs to an individual not a party to the divorce

The trial court found that Mr. Jensen's mother, Clara Jensen, had earmarked her 50% share in the company to be devised to Mr. Jensen and his brother Mark Jensen upon her death as their inheritance from her estate. Supplemental Findings of Fact ¶¶ 44, 45. The court found that Clara Jensen "assigned" her shares to Mr. Jensen and Mark Jensen so that her assets would be protected from the company's liabilities. *Id.* at ¶ 44. The court heard testimony that this method of asset protection was neither unusual among closely held companies such as this one, nor fraudulent. Trial Transcript, July 31, 2006, pp.12-13, ll. 23. Accordingly, the court found that this "assignment" would not constitute a "complete transfer" of her interest in the company to Mr. Jensen and Mark Jensen until the time of her death. Supplemental Findings of Fact, ¶ 45.

The court then ruled that the entire increase in equity of the company during the time of the marriage be divided between the parties. Supplemental Conclusions of Law ¶ 22. The court is in error since, for assets to be distributed as marital property, the assets

must be in the legal possession of one, or both, of the marital parties. Enrody v. Enrody, 914 P.2d 1166, 1169 (Utah Ct. App. 1996). Here, it appears that legal possession of the stock remains with Clara Jensen. In any case, the court does not specifically find otherwise. By way of illustrating the court's error in awarding away Clara Jensen's property, if she so pleased, Clara Jensen presumably could change her mind about leaving her stock to Mr. Jensen and could leave it instead to someone else or dispose of it in some other way.

POINT III

The Trial Court Ignored the rule of law laid out by the Utah Supreme Court in Mortensen v. Mortensen, and misapplied other precedents

The trial court cited Mortensen v. Mortensen, 760 P.2d 304 (Utah 1988), as the Supreme Court precedent driving the rule of this case. Supplemental Conclusions of Law, ¶ 21. However the court's rulings ignored the rule laid down in Mortensen. Further, the court cites a number of cases in support of its ruling that Ms. Jensen's role as primary care-giver to the couple's child and her contribution to household responsibilities entitle her to a full half share in the company's increase in value over the years of the marriage. Id. at 22. As will be discussed below, these cases do not support the court's ruling.

Mortensen v. Mortensen does not support the trial court's ruling

The trial court correctly cites *Mortensen v. Mortensen*, 760 P.2d 304 (Utah 1988), for the proposition that a party's separate property acquired by gift should be awarded to the party. (Supplemental Conclusions of Law ¶ 21.) However, the court then erroneously enlists *Mortensen* and three other cases to support awarding Ms. Jensen a portion of the increase in value that occurred during the marriage. *Id.* at ¶ 22.

In *Mortensen*, the Utah Supreme Court laid out the rule for courts making property divisions pursuant to Utah Code Ann. 30-3-5. “[T]rial courts making “equitable” property division...should...generally award property acquired by one spouse by gift and inheritance during the marriage (or property acquired in exchange thereof) to that spouse, together with any appreciation or enhancement of its value, unless...the other spouse has by his or her efforts or expense contributed to the enhancement, maintenance, or protection of that property, thereby acquiring an equitable interest in it....The remaining property should be divided equitably between the parties as in other divorce cases....” *Mortensen v. Mortensen*, 760 P.2d 304, 308 (Utah 1988) (other exceptions to the general rule not relied upon by the trial court are omitted from the quoted material).

Ironically, the *Mortensen* court let stand an unequal division of marital property. However, the Court based its affirmance, not on one of the exceptions to the general rule it had laid out, but rather on the fact that it was not the trial court who had made the property division. *Id.* at 309. The unfortunate appellant had stipulated to a

property division that awarded him personal property in stock in a family farm but offset that with a division of the remaining property that the appellant felt was less than he was entitled to. *Id.*

“Since the trial court did not actually make the division of property here but only accepted the division made by the parties themselves,” the Supreme Court explained, “we cannot presume that had the court made the division, it would have fallen into error.” *Id.* In explaining that the division was not facially inequitable, the Court pointed out that, for her part in the stipulated settlement, the appellee wife had waived all right to alimony. *Id.*

Thus, while *Mortensen* is a proper statement of the rule the court should have followed when dividing the property in the present case, its facts do not provide any rationale for deviating from the general rule and awarding Ms. Jensen half the increase in value of the company that occurred during the marriage.

The court below cites three additional cases in support of its ruling that Ms. Jensen is entitled to half the increase of the company’s value. The court made no attempt to analyze these cases or to explain why they should determine the outcome under the facts of this case. Each case will be discussed below.

***Elman v. Elman* is not analogous to the present case**

In *Elman* the husband had acquired interests in family real estate partnerships.

Elman v. Elman, 45 P.3d 176, 2002 UT App 83, ¶ 3 (Utah Ct. App. 2002). In awarding a “small share of the appreciation on Husband’s partnership interest,” to the wife, the court first pointed to the fact that the couple had jointly agreed that the wife would quit her career in property management in order to manage the couple’s sizeable marital properties. *Id.* at ¶ 4.

“She secured land for, and was in charge of, building the parties’ Park City home. The home increased in value from \$685,000 to over \$1,000,000 at the time of trial. Additionally, Wife located, sold, and traded other marital properties. In particular, she was involved in the acquisition of a Montana ranch, which increased in value by approximately \$442,000 at the time of trial; a Park City lot that sold for a \$30,000 profit; and a lot, valued at \$895,000, which she traded for a lot in the Colony at the Canyons..., valued at \$1,200,000 at the time of trial.” *Id.*

These marital assets, which the court found the wife had grown, were awarded 50% to the husband. *Id.* at ¶ 24. Thus, the court found it “only equitable, given the unusual responsibilities she assumed, that Wife share in the appreciation on the properties Husband grew during the marriage.” *Id.*

While the court deemed these unusual facts of the wife managing and growing sizeable marital assets an “extraordinary situation” where equity demanded an award of the husband’s separate property to the wife, it nevertheless made only a “small and

narrowly drawn award based on the years of Husband's most active partnership management and only above a reasonable rate of appreciation." *Id.* at ¶ 26. Unlike the present case in which the trial court awarded to the wife half of the asset's appreciation, the *Elman* court subtracted from the award appreciation due to inflation by subtracting from the award a reasonable rate of return.

The *Elman* court awarded the wife a share of the husband's non-marital property's appreciation because the case was a truly extraordinary situation in which, by mutual agreement of the parties, the wife quit her career in order to take on the considerable job of managing the couple's sizeable property assets. Furthermore, by the wife's efforts, those assets greatly increased in value. The court here sites *Elman* as authority for awarding Ms. Jensen with half of the appreciation of the company's value. Supplemental Conclusions of Law, ¶ 22.

The court invokes *Elman* for authority to deem the increase in the company's value over the course of the marriage as marital property where Ms. Jensen took "upon herself the household responsibilities and care of the child." Supplemental Conclusions of Law ¶ 22. But *Elman* does not support such an outcome. Unlike in *Elman*, there is nothing extraordinary about the present case justifying the court's award to Ms. Jensen of half the appreciation of the non-marital property. Unlike Ms. *Elman*, Ms. Jensen continued to work outside the home throughout the marriage. Supplemental Findings of

Fact ¶ 13 - 15. The business she ran was not incorporated into the divided marital assets but remained her own non-marital property. Supplemental Conclusion of law ¶ 19.

Furthermore, even under the extraordinary facts of *Elman*, the court did not award the wife half the appreciation of the business over the entire period of the marriage. Rather, the court awarded a small portion of the increase, removing from the wife's share that increase resulting from inflation, and awarded a share of the increase extending over only a part of the marriage.

Savage v. Savage and Lee v. Lee predate and violate the rule laid out in Mortensen v. Mortensen

The court cites to *Savage v. Savage*, 658 P.2d 1201 (Utah Ct. App. 1983), and *Lee v. Lee*, 744 P.2d 1378 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) for support of its ruling that the increase in the company's value over the course of the marriage is marital property since the wife took on household responsibilities and care of the child. Supplemental Conclusions of Law ¶ 22. But both these cases were decided prior to the rule enunciated in *Mortensen v. Mortensen* discussed above. Further, in the case of *Lee*, the wife quit her job at her husband's request and assisted in the operation of the corporation without receiving pay for her work. *Lee* at 1380.

In *Mortensen v. Mortensen* the Utah Supreme Court reviewed the field of conflicting decisions regarding awards of gifted, inherited and premarital property in

divorce proceedings both in Utah as well as in other jurisdictions. 760 P.2d at 305 - 308. The court then announced the rule to be followed by Utah courts when making property divisions in divorce cases. *Id.* at 308. Under that rule courts should generally award property acquired by one spouse by gift and inheritance during the marriage to that spouse, together with any appreciation or enhancement of its value unless the other spouse has by his or her efforts or expense contributed to the enhancement, maintenance, or protection of that property, thereby acquiring an equitable interest in it. *Id.*

The court here asserts that the increase in the value of Mr. Jensen's property is marital property because Ms. Jensen contributed to the increase by taking on household duties and care of the couple's child. Supplemental Conclusions of Law ¶ 22. In so doing, the court has abused its discretion unless the taking on by a party of such duties *by law* constitutes contribution to the enhancement, maintenance, or protection of the other party's non-marital property. It is not clear, for instance, how or to what extent Ms. Jensen's efforts contributed to the increase. It is not even clear that her efforts contributed to such increase.

POINT IV

The Trial Court Awarded Attorney Fees Without Considering Need, Ability, or Reasonableness