2006

Kae Jensen v. David Leon Jensen : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in awarding Ms. Olson half of the increase in equity in A & D. Mr. Jensen should have marshaled the evidence in support of the trial court's ultimate award because it is highly fact-dependent. Additionally, Mr. Jensen should have marshaled the evidence in support of the trial court's finding that he owns half of the shares of A & D. Although the trial court did not explicitly make this finding, the finding may reasonably be implied, and Mr. Jensen's arguments regarding his mother's alleged ownership interest should be rejected where there is sufficient evidence to support the trial court's finding.

Additionally, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in holding that the increase in equity in A & D is marital property, subject to equitable division. Ms. Olson's significant contributions to the marriage enabled Mr. Jensen to devote himself to A & D on a full time basis, and equity requires that she be awarded a portion of increase in equity in A & D. Utah law treats spouses as equal partners in the "business of marriage," thereby permitting trial courts to award a portion of the appreciation on non-marital assets, such as closely-held businesses, to the non-owner spouse.

The trial court's award of attorney's fees to Ms. Olson was within its discretion where the trial court impliedly held that Ms. Olson was unable to pay, that Mr. Jensen was able to pay, and that the fees were reasonable.

ARGUMENT

Point I. This Court Should Affirm the Trial Court's Property Distribution Where Mr. Jensen Failed to Marshal the Evidence.

Where Mr. Jensen has failed to marshal the evidence, this Court should not consider whether the trial court's ultimate award to Ms. Olson was an abuse of discretion. Pursuant to Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 24(a)(9), an appellant "challenging a fact finding must first marshal all record evidence that supports the challenged finding." Additionally, where "a court's application of a legal standard is extremely fact-sensitive, the appellants also have a duty to marshal the evidence." *United Park City Mines Co. v. Stichting Mayflower Mountain Fonds*, 2006 UT 35, ¶ 25, 140 P.3d 1200 (citing *Chen v. Stewart*, 2004 UT 82, ¶ 20, 100 P.3d 1177). "In order to properly discharge the duty of marshaling the evidence, the challenger must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings the appellant resists. After constructing this magnificent array of supporting evidence, the challenger must ferret out a fatal flaw in the evidence. The gravity of this flaw must be sufficient to convince the appellate court that the court's finding resting upon the evidence is clearly erroneous." *Moon v. Moon*, 1999 UT App 12, ¶ 24, 973 P.2d 431. Thus, appellant's obligation to marshal the evidence is only excused where there is absolutely no evidence to support the trial court's finding. *Orlob v. Wasatch Medical Management*, 2005 UT App 430, ¶ 20, 124 P.3d 269. This means that the appellee "must present only a 'scintilla' of evidence that would support the finding the district court

made in order to show that the appellant did not meet his burden of marshaling the evidence.” *Id.* (citing *Chen*, 2004 UT 82 at ¶ 25, 100 P.3d 1177).

Mr. Jensen has made no attempt to marshal the evidence. In fact, Mr. Jensen brushes over the facts altogether, largely neglecting to cite to the Record. Nevertheless, he claims that the trial court made erroneous findings as to his ownership percentage in A & D and improperly divided the increase in equity in A & D. The determination of the size and value of Mr. Jensen’s equity interest in A & D and how that equity should be divided are highly fact-sensitive matters, however, and Mr. Jensen should have marshaled the evidence in support of the trial court’s award. In *Schraumberg v. Schraumberg*, 875 P.2d 598, 603 (Utah Ct. App. 1994), for example, the husband challenged the trial court’s property distribution regarding an inherited building, based on its allegedly erroneous finding that the husband had spent marital funds to maintain and improve the building. The Court of Appeals affirmed the award of one-half of the equity to the wife due to the husband’s failure to marshal the evidence and show the finding to be clearly erroneous. *Id.* This Court should do the same.

Far more than a “scintilla” of evidence supports both the trial court’s determination of Mr. Jensen’s ownership interest in A & D, and the trial court’s decision to award Ms. Olson half of the increase in equity of the Company. As explained below, the trial court implicitly found that Mr. Jensen owned half of A & D at the time of dissolution. Where Mr. Jensen failed to marshal the evidence in support this finding, the Court should refuse to look beyond that finding and affirm the ultimate award.

A. The Trial Court's Failure to Specifically State Mr. Jensen's Ownership Percentage in A & D is Harmless Where the Trial Court Implicitly Found that Mr. Jensen Owns One-Half of A & D.

Even though Clara assigned her interest in A & D to Mark and Mr. Jensen, Mr. Jensen argues that Clara's interest will not fully pass to him until her death. Br. Aplt. at 8-9. Although the trial court did not make A specific finding regarding Mr. Jensen's ownership of A & D, it is clear from the other findings that the trial court implicitly found that Mr. Jensen owns 50% of the shares of A & D, thereby disregarding the interest allegedly retained by Clara. Accordingly, any alleged error was harmless, and the property division was within the trial court's discretion.

"[A] trial court's decision may be affirmed if the failure to make the missing findings can be viewed as harmless error." *Colonial Pacific Leasing Corp. v. JWCJR*, 1999 UT App 91, ¶ 17, 977 P.2d 541. Harmless error can occur where the unstated findings can be reasonably implied. *Id.* "Unstated findings can be implied if it is reasonable to assume that the trial court actually considered the controverted evidence and necessarily made a finding to resolve the controversy, but simply failed to record the factual determination it made." *Id.* at ¶ 18 (quoting *Hall v. Hall*, 858 P.2d 1018, 1025 (Utah Ct. App.1993)). Based on the evidence and the trial court's other findings, the only reasonable assumption is that the trial court considered the evidence, made a decision, and simply failed to record a finding.

Mr. Jensen states that the trial court actually found that Clara's assignment of her interest to Mark and Mr. Jensen would not constitute a complete transfer until her death. However, Mr. Jensen misrepresents the trial court's finding. The trial court only stated

that Clara *testified* to the same. R. at 370: ¶ 45 (Supplemental Findings and Conclusions). In fact, the trial court implicitly found that Mr. Jensen owns one-half of A & D. The finding is easily implied from the trial court's finding that, since at least 2001, A & D's Corporate Income Tax Returns reflect that Mark and Mr. Jensen are its only owners, one-half each. *Id.* at ¶ 43. Further, the trial court found that Mr. Jensen and his brother have been "in charge" of A & D since their father's death and have made all of the decisions on its behalf. *Id.* at ¶ 46. Apparently based on these findings, the trial court held that Ms. Olson is entitled one-half of the increase in equity in A & D. *Id.* at ¶ 22. Thus, it is reasonable to assume that the trial court found that Mr. Jensen was a one-half owner of A & D.²

B. The Court Should Not Reconsider Mr. Jensen's Ownership Percentage On Appeal Where Mr. Jensen Failed to Marshal the Evidence or Offer Any Legal Support for His Position.

To support his claim on appeal that his mother Clara still "owns" certain shares of A & D, Mr. Jensen was required to marshal the evidence. Mr. Jensen not only fails to marshal the evidence, he neglects to tell the Court what shares he and, allegedly, his mother actually own and therefore, how the trial court erred. Br. Aplt. at 8-9. Accordingly, Ms. Olson need only demonstrate that a "scintilla" of evidence supports the

² Mr. Jensen's contention that he is anything less than a one-half owner of A & D is disingenuous. Since filing this appeal, Mr. Jensen has filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 13. Although not part of the Transcript of Record, Ms. Olson emphasizes that Mr. Jensen testified--under oath--to being a one-half owner of A & D for the purposes of his bankruptcy petition. A copy of Schedule B to his petition is included as Addendum C. To allow Mr. Jensen to be considered a one-half owner of A & D for all purposes, except where it benefits Ms. Olson, would be patently unfair.

trial court's finding that Mr. Jensen is the one-half owner of A & D after Mark and he acquired her shares.

The trial court's finding that Mr. Jensen is reported as owning half of the shares of A & D for federal income tax purposes constitutes a "scintilla" of evidence and is therefore sufficient. R. at 370: ¶ 43 (Supplemental Findings and Conclusions).

Moreover, the trial court was presented with other evidence of Mr. Jensen's ownership interest:

- Ms. Olson submitted copies of the A & D stock certificates that, together, show Mr. Jensen to own half of the total shares of A & D. *See* Trial Exhibit 24 (included as Addendum D). In particular, Certificate No. 13 clearly evidenced Clara's "s[ale], assign[ment], and transfer" of 3,333 shares to Mr. Jensen and his brother Mark as tenants in common effective February 1, 1999. *Id.*
- Based on these records, Mr. Jensen's own witness, Kay Dix Monroe, certified public accountant for A & D, testified that Mark and Mr. Jensen are each 50% "owners" of A & D, as reflected on the tax returns he prepares for the Company. R. at 390 (Trans. of Trial [7/31/2006] at 27-32).
- Mark testified that Clara transferred her shares to him and Mr. Jensen, that they can use her shares now, including voting and pledging them for loans, and that he and Mr. Jensen are the sole owners for tax purposes. R. at 390 (Trans. of Trial [7/31/2006] at 89, 101, 103-04).

- At trial, Mr. Jensen never submitted a proxy agreement, an assignment agreement, or other document suggesting that Clara retained legal title to the shares she assigned to Mark and him.

Thus, there was sufficient evidence--and far more than a scintilla of evidence--upon which the trial court could find that Mr. Jensen is the one-half owner of A & D for the purposes of distributing the marital property.

Additionally, the exact number of shares Mr. Jensen actually “owns” is less important than whether the ultimate award is equitable. Ms. Olson was not awarded Clara’s shares; she was awarded half of the increase in equity in A & D. Admittedly, different members of Mr. Jensen’s family owned varying amounts of stock prior to and during the marriage. However, Mr. Jensen never contends that he did not own any shares of A & D at the time of the dissolution. *See, e.g.*, R. at 388 (Trans. of Trial [2/15/2006] at 155-56) (At the very least, he admits that he owns 3,333 shares). Moreover, Mr. Jensen has never claimed that he enjoys anything less than half of the benefits and burdens of being an owner of A & D. To the contrary, the trial court found that Mark and Mr. Jensen are the 50% owners for purposes of management and control, including acquiring debt and paying taxes.³ R. at 370: ¶¶ 43, 46 (Supplemental Findings and Conclusions). Thus, there were adequate grounds upon which the trial court could ignore

³ Mr. Jensen submits that Clara “presumably could change her mind about leaving her stock to Mr. Jensen and could instead leave it to someone else or dispose of it in some other way.” Br. Aplt. at 9. However, A & D represents to third parties, such as a bonding company and lenders, that Mark and Mr. Jensen are the only owners of A & D. These entities would be interested in learning that Clara “presumably” could strip Mark and Mr. Jensen of their interest in the Company. In reality, of course, this is not the case. Mr. Jensen’s position was clearly rejected by the trial court, and this Court should follow suit.

Clara's alleged ownership interest, and its implicit finding may be affirmed, especially where Mr. Jensen failed to marshal the evidence.

Mr. Jensen may argue in reply that, where Clara owns the shares assigned to him, the trial court's award of half of the increase in equity to Ms. Olson is a purely legal error, thereby allowing him to challenge it without marshaling the evidence. However, Ms. Olson maintains that the trial court's assessment of Clara's interest in A & D was a factual determination, or at the very least, a highly fact-based legal conclusion. Thus, Mr. Jensen was required to marshal the evidence. More importantly, assuming that Clara actually has an interest in A & D, Mr. Jensen failed to show that, under Utah law, the trial court abused its discretion in awarding Ms. Olson half of the increase in equity due to Clara's interest. This is likely because Utah case law does not support his position. Under Utah law, "a marital asset is defined functionally as any right that has accrued during the marriage to a present *or future benefit*." *Jeffries v. Jeffries*, 895 P.2d 835, 837 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) (emphasis added). Even if Mr. Jensen does not "own" half of the increase in equity in A & D at the present time, Mr. Jensen will inherit it upon Clara's death. See R. at 370: ¶ 45 (Supplemental Findings and Conclusions). Thus, "not only was it proper" for the trial court to consider Mr. Jensen's interest in shares to which Clara (allegedly) holds legal title until her death, "it was required." *Jeffries*, 895 P.2d at 838.

Mr. Jensen does refer the Court to *Endrody v. Endrody*, 914 P.2d 1166 (Utah Ct. App. 1996), for the proposition that he must have legal "possession" of the property for the trial court to distribute it. However, in *Endrody*, the Court of Appeals held only that "the equitable powers of the trial court in divorce proceedings do not permit the court to

distribute assets held in a trust created by non-parties to the divorce or in a manner which is inimicable to the terms of the trust agreement.” *Id.* at 1169. Thus, the holding in *Endrody* does not apply to the current dispute. Ms. Olson was not actually distributed any shares. She was awarded money based on the increase in equity in A & D. In other words, she does not seek to undo a trust or otherwise acquire a legal interest in property at all, let alone property owned by a third party. Further, in *Endrody*, the Court acknowledged that trial courts may award a party an equitable interest in property held in trust for the benefit of her spouse, which the Court specifically noted is not inconsistent with cases in which wives are awarded the value of appreciation on a property owned by their husbands. Thus, if anything, *Enrody* supports Ms. Olson’s position.

In sum, Mr. Jensen’s claim that the trial court should not have awarded Ms. Olson half of increase in equity in A & D due to Clara’s alleged ownership interest in the Company is without merit. Mr. Jensen failed to marshal the evidence, and more than a scintilla of evidence supports the trial court’s implicit finding that Mr. Jensen owns one-half of A & D. Additionally, even if Clara can be considered the “owner” of certain shares, her alleged “ownership” is legally unimportant. Thus, the trial court’s award should be affirmed.

Point II. The Trial Court’s Determination that the Increase in Equity In A & D Is Marital Property Was Within Its Discretion.

The trial court held that the appreciation on Mr. Jensen’s interest in A & D during the marriage “should be divided [equally] between the parties.” R. at 364: ¶ 22 (Supplemental Findings and Conclusions). Mr. Jensen argues that, in so holding, the trial

court failed to follow the rule regarding division of non-marital property set forth by the Supreme Court in *Mortensen v. Mortensen*, 720 P.2d 304 (Utah 1988). Br. Aplt. at 9-11. Mr. Jensen further argues that other cases upon which the trial court relied are either distinguishable on their facts or predate *Mortensen* and, therefore, are no longer reliable. Br. Aplt. at 11-15. Mr. Jensen is mistaken, however. Under *Mortensen* and several Court of Appeals decisions, the trial court did not abuse its discretion given all of the facts in this case. A review of the cases illustrates this point.

In *Mortensen*, 706 P.2d at 308, the Supreme Court held that there are several exceptions to the general rule that divorcing parties should be awarded their separate property. The Court stated that trial courts should

generally award property acquired by one spouse by gift and inheritance during the marriage ... to that spouse, together with any appreciation or enhancement of its value, unless (1) the other spouse has by his or her efforts or expense contributed to the enhancement of its value, thereby acquiring an equitable interest in it ..., or (2) the property has been consumed or its identity lost through commingling or exchanges or where the acquiring spouse has made a gift of an interest therein to the other spouse.

Id. (emphasis added). Additionally, the day before *Mortensen* was decided, the Supreme Court acknowledged in *Noble v. Noble*, 761 P.2d 1369, 1373 (Utah 1988), that “there is no *per se* ban on awarding one spouse a portion of the premarital assets of another. In fact, [Utah appellate court] cases have consistently held that under appropriate circumstances, achieving a fair, just, and equitable result may require that the trial court exercise its discretion to award one spouse the premarital property of the other.”

Since *Mortensen* and *Noble*, the Court of Appeals has recognized that a wife may contribute to the enhancement of her husband's separate property by assuming other responsibilities, thereby allowing him to grow the value of that separate property. This often occurs where the separate property is an active investment in a family-owned business. Most recently, in *Elman v. Elman*, 2002 UT App 83, ¶ 20, 45 P.3d 176, the trial court determined that certain partnership interests were the husband's premarital property, that the husband had not commingled the assets, and that the wife had not enhanced or protected the assets in any meaningful way. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision to award the wife a share of the appreciation on the partnership interests due to her management and enhancement of the marital property, which freed the husband to manage the partnerships. *Id.* at ¶ 21-30. Similarly, in *Rappleye v. Rappleye*, 855 P.2d 260, 263 (Utah Ct. App. 1993), the Court of Appeals held that the evidence did not support awarding the entire proceeds of the sale of a hardware store to the husband without more detailed findings, even though the store was a premarital asset, since the trial court failed to consider the wife's contributions to the business, "financial or otherwise," during the marriage. Finally, in *Dunn v. Dunn*, 802 P.2d 1314, 1318 (Utah Ct. App. 1990), the Court of Appeals held that the trial court abused its discretion in characterizing the husband's professional corporation as a non-marital asset. The Court held that, while the wife was not the husband's partner in the corporation, "she was his partner in the 'business' of marriage and her efforts were necessary contributions to the growth of his practice and the business." *Id.* In fact, the Court specifically rejected a property distribution that "ignores contributions of love,

encouragement, and companionship, which elude monetary valuation ... [and] gives short shrift to spouses who contribute homemaking skills and child care.” *Id.* at 1322.

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